THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

Court of Appeals

The Honorable Judges: Williams, Thomas, and Hill

Appellate Case No. 2021-000665

Court of Appeals Case No. 2018-001209

Case No. 2017-CP-23-06301

Raymond A. Wedlake, individually and derivatively, on behalf of all Members of the
Woodington Homeowners' Association, Inc., Appellant,

v.

Benjamin Acord, William Craigo, Denis Esteve, and Brian James in their capacity as the
current Board of Directors of the Woodington Homeowners' Association, Inc., Respondents.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

RECEIVED

Jul 22 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

--	-------	----------

Pursuant to Rule 242(d), SCACR, Appellant Raymond A. Wedlake (*Pro Se*) submits this “Petition for Writ of Certiorari”. Appellant firmly believes the Court of Appeals (COA) has misapplied and misapprehended the law in arriving at its decision. COA ignored several rationales that required reversal and remand, had they been properly understood. COA affirmed the granting of an involuntary non-suit; this action violated Court rules. Several authorities say non-suit contradicted policies and procedures (*W.R. Livingston v. Noland Corp. ...*, *Carver v. Medical Society*; see [Final] “Brief of Appellant” (BOA), p. 7; *Fielding Home ... v. Public Savings ...* also, *Micronics, Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*; BOA, p. 28). At an original, bench trial heard by a Master in Equity (Master, or Judge), the Master basically ignored **all** evidence before the Court. Contrary to applying evidence that was placed before the Court, and furthermore contrary to applying testimony heard during trial, the Master applied procedural grounds to overrule the merits of Appellant’s case, and to grant involuntary non-suit. South Carolina has a policy “favoring the disposition of issues on their merits rather than on technicalities” (*Microtronics v. SC Dep’t of Revenue*; see BOA pp. 28 – 29).

ADMINISTRATIVE HISTORY

Found from “South Carolina Appellate Case Management System” :

06/24/2021 Petition for Writ of Certiorari and Responses -
Appendix documents pulled by case manager from COA

for Supreme Court Case No.: 2021-000665 (A665) as filed on 06/24/2021, are eight reference documents pulled from COA:

Unpublished Opinion (UPO), Rehearing (REH), Rehearing Order (REHO)
Final Brief: Respondent, Appellant (BOA); plus: Final Reply Brief
Record on Appeal: [volume] 1 and 2

On 05/29/2018 the Master filed an Order (R. pp. 7-11) granting involuntary non-suit. On 06/26/2018, Appellant gave “Notice of Appeal” (R. pp. 531-532) to COA. On 04/07/2021, COA issued its Unpublished Opinion (UPO) affirming the Master’s Order. On 04/19/2021, Appellant served “Petition for Rehearing ...” (REH) to request review of UPO. On 06/15/2021, a COA Order (REHO) denied Appellant’s Petition for Rehearing. On 06/22/2021, Appellant served “Notice of Appeal” to the Supreme Court (as received A665, 06/24/2021). On 06/24/2021, a Supreme Court Order dismissed Appellant’s appeal. On 07/09/2021, Appellant served “Petition for Rehearing of Order”, against this 06/24/2021-Supreme-Court Order.

OVERVIEW

Appellant firmly believes that issues presented in this Petition are fully appropriate for resolution by the Supreme Court. Appellant believes issues herein are of extreme public interest. Thus, the Supreme Court has an obligation to provide resolution. Appellant thinks issues have been decided differently by a variety of lower courts. Such has thereby created confusion and necessitates a uniform interpretation of the law. Only the Supreme Court can provide a uniform interpretation. Consequently, this Petition presents matters which are appropriate for consideration by the Supreme Court.

To date, trial and appeal Courts abrogated their proper role as the Judicial Branch of government. Research by Appellant finds nothing to indicate that a Court of Law’s ruling can be based upon “**legal wrangling**” (that is: issues not related directly to merits of a case, but other issues that Counsel may bring, that in truth are irrelevant, and a violation of their “Lawyer’s Oath” not to “mislead”). Appellant finds nothing to indicate that “**procedural issues**” can be

a sole basis upon which judgment is based. Content presented in Exhibit PWC.1 affirms Appellant's belief about the "Role / Duty / Function of a Court of Law". The **primary purpose** for a Court of Law is to **resolve disputes**. Resolution cannot occur when either of legal wrangling, or procedure issues, are applied to **deny rights** given to individuals by the "**Constitution** of the United States". Very specifically, a primary purpose for a Court of Law does **not include simple dismissal** of cases, which denies resolution of disputes, and denies constitutional rights.

In granting "involuntary non-suit" and its affirmation by COA, Court's of Law did not conform to their mandated roles, duties, nor functions, to resolve disputes as summarized by excerpts taken from Exhibit PWC.1:

- > The Courts are the place where justice is made. "The purposes of the courts are to seek justice and to discover the truth" (The Structure of Criminal Justice. 2013). ...
- > ... A court is an institution that the government sets up to settle disputes through a legal process. ...
- > The duties of the judicial branch include:
 - * Interpreting state laws;
 - * Settling legal disputes;
 - * Protecting individual rights ...
- > We need courts to interpret and apply the law when parties dispute.
 - ... They [Courts] protect minorities of all types from the majority, and protect the rights of people who can't protect themselves. They also embody notions of equal treatment and fair play. The courts and the protections of the law are open to everybody.
- > Some of the major functions of judiciary are as follows:
 - (2) Protector of Civil Rights: ...
 - (4) Custodian of fundamental rights: ...
 - (5) Guardian of the Constitution: ...

> ... So the major task of the judiciary is to ‘determine’ the facts of laws and to apply them to particular circumstance.

... judiciaries also act as the defenders of the individual’s right. Such role of the judiciary is important as it prevents the individual’s rights from being violated. An individual ... could approach the courts for protection.

CONTENT REQUIRED BY RULE 242(d)

A) Required by Rule 242(d)(1) : Certification

1. Appellant certifies that a “Petition for Rehearing ...” (REH) was made on 04/19/2021.
2. Appellant certifies that REH was finally ruled on (REHO) by COA on 06/15/2021.

B) Required by Rule 242(d)(2) : Questions presented for review ...

Ba) Questions raised in the COA

3. Brief of Appellant (BOA) raised seven questions; see BOA p. 1 .

Bb) Questions raised in the Petition for Rehearing (REH)

4. Appellant’s REH raised seven questions; see REH, A – G, pp. 2 – 14, as listed in “Statement of Grounds – Table of Contents”, pp. ii – iii .

C) Required by Rule 242(d)(3) : Statement of the case, containing the facts ...

Ca) Testimony and BOA p. 2 gave “Statement of the Case”

5. The Attorney General directed Appellant to take his case to the Judiciary:

Q. ... ask the Attorney General’s Office for an advisory opinion on these issues so as – in order to avoid going to Court?

A. As a matter of fact, I did. And we did bring many of these same questions to the Attorney General. Unfortunately, he declined to opine and directed us that this was a matter to bring to the judiciary.

(R. p. 249, ll. 10-16; R. p. 520)

Appellant reiterates the very simple nature of his case:

... Appellant brought this action derivatively on behalf of the Woodington Homeowner Association (WHOA) seeking a Declaratory Judgment regarding interpretation of six stipulated By-Laws of WHOA, and a related

action filed individually by Appellant for specific and particularized injury Appellant sustained as a Member of WHOA. ... (BOA, p. 2)

The individual action is specifically defined in the Record On Appeal:

... individual that sought to present his platform of openness and transparency, which is markedly different, a minority view currently, and get on the Board so that he will have that opportunity and basically got disenfranchised when not being permitted to do so. And that's the individual action on his part. Not derivative but both derivatively and individually. (R. p. 247, ll. 1-6)

Cb) BOA pp. 3 - 4 gave "Statement of Facts"

Cb.1. Appellant reiterates a few facts from BOA

6. Reference to the By-Laws is noted 9 times in BOA pp. 3 - 4 . Selected verification of provisions in the By-Laws in BOA were: a) "... the term-limit of five-years specified in the By-Laws ...", b) "... fill an open vacancy on the Board as required by the By-Laws ...", and, c) "... Appellant's Complaint was supported by Affidavits as well as numerous exhibits, including a full, complete copy of the By-Laws." Important provisions in the By-Laws are also supplied from testimony (R. p. 235, ll. 16-17; R. p. 236, ll. 5-7, ll. 20-23; R. p. 237, ll. 15-18; R. p. 244, ll. 5-15; R. p. 262, ll. 12-16; R. p. 266, ll. 12-16; R. p. 287, ll. 4-6; R. p. 296, ll. 4-6) May it please the Court to note no objections to cited testimony were raised.

Cb.2. Appellant reiterates from Petition for Rehearing (REH):

"B) Errors of Fact cannot be used to conclude affirmation of involuntary non-suit"

Factual evidence was presented to the Court which proved the Board's violations of By-Law provisions. Affirmation by the Master of many of Appellant's issues demand that involuntary non-suit cannot be allowed to stand after review by Appellate Courts. The Record On Appeal shows the Master **AFFIRMED** many issues.

7. **AFFIRMED** Issue One: "... the Board ... must comply with ... By-Laws"
(R. p. 178) - (see REH, B1, pp. 4-5, par. 5; R. p. 11; R. p. 325, ll. 2-5).
8. **AFFIRMED** Issue Two: "... bylaws place a duty on the Board of Directors to fill a vacancy ..." (R. p. 178) - (see REH, B2, p.5, par. 6; R. p. 244, ll. 5-6; R. p. 325, ll. 6-7).
9. **AFFIRMED** Issue Four: "... bylaws do not permit a Director to remain beyond a five-year term ..." (R. p. 179) - (see REH, B4, pp. 5-6, pars. 8-9 [SC Code of Laws Section 33-31-140(3)]; R. p. 36, Section 2; R. p. 65, par. 3; R. p. 217, ll. 11-15; R. p. 218, ll. 10-18; R. p. 294, ll. 20-24; R. p. 325, ll. 6-8; R. p. 446, par.11)
10. Issue Five: "... Bylaws of the Association do not permit delegation of the role or authority of the Board ..." (R. p. 179) - erroneously stated as moot (see REH, B5, pp. 6-7, pars. 10-11; R. P. 38; R. p. 325 - 326, ll. 22- 25, 1).
11. **AFFIRMED** Issue Six: "... Bylaws require the Board of Directors to send out a ballot ..." (R. p. 179) - (see REH, B6, p. 7, par 12; R. p. 325, ll. 11 - 14).

D) Required by Rule 242(d)(4): Argument in support ...

Appellant selects a few, most-important questions to give argument in support.

Da) Appellant's **Individual Claim** was totally ignored

12. A Judge's discretion does **not** go so far as to **ignore an Individual Claim** altogether, especially where there is proof of special, individual damages, as shown for Appellant's case (R. p. 20, par. 4; R. p. 28, par. 65; R. p. 29, par. 69; R. p. 30-31, par. 76; R. p. 171, ll. 2-3; R. p. 176, par. L, *Brown v. Steward*; R. p. 220, ll. 3-4; R. p. 247, ll. 1-6; R. p. 286, ll. 21-25; R. p. 305, ll. 20-21; R. p. 326, ll. 12-16). The Master also affirmed Appellant's status: "... He clearly has rights individually as a member of the Woodington Homeowners ..."
(R. p. 324, ll. 24-25).

13. The Master committed both Error of Law and Error of Fact due to failure to comment on, or give guidance about, Appellant's individual claim. Thus, **"Due Process"** was denied (REH, p. 8-9, par. 16). Amendment XIV to the "Constitution of the United States" guarantees to Appellant the right of due process and the right to "... equal protection of the laws ...". Due Process was denied due to no judgment given pertaining to Appellant's individual action, contrary to judiciary policy (emphasis added):

It is the overriding policy of the judiciary in South Carolina to assure that cases are **tried on their merits and not dismissed on technicalities**. This is equally true where, as here, the appeal is from a finding of non-suit. As stated by the Supreme Court of South Carolina in *Sandel v. Cousins*, 266 S.C. 19, 221 S.E.2d 111 (1975), a case where the court found it "impossible to determine .. the points of law or fact" (Id.), yet still reversed. In finding for the Appellant, the **Court reiterated the fundamental principal that "a meritorious case is not disposed of on technical grounds."** (Id.)

Such failure to recognize "Sandel ... not disposed of on technical grounds", with resulting denial of due process by the Court, demand reversal and remand from the Master's granting of involuntary non-suit and from affirmation by COA.

Db) Appellant attempted to enter his evidence but was denied

14. The Master abused his discretion by denying Appellant's request to "enter into evidence". It must be noted: "... that they would all be in evidence ..." was denied (R. p. 270, ll. 5 – 6). Such is contrary to authority from the United States Supreme Court (emphasis added):

The **United States Supreme Court** weighed in on the issue of entry of Exhibits to Complaints not on the record in *Tallabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd.*, 551 U.S. 308 (2007). It reversed the Court of Appeals refusal to admit Exhibits to the Complaint not on the record and sustained a motion to dismiss, explaining that in analyzing a 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, the court **must consider "documents incorporated into the complaint by reference, and matters which the court may take judicial notice."** (Id. At 730) (emphasis added). (BOA, p. 24)

Dc) Authority speaks to Judicial Notice of Court Records

15. The Master abused his discretion by denying Judicial Notice of court records:

Judicial records are in particular proper vehicles for judicial notice. Key to this appeal, the 4th Circuit Court of Appeals, has noted that “the most frequent use of judicial notice of ascertainable facts is in noticing the content of court records.” (*Colonial Penn Ins. Co. v. Coil*, 887 F.2d 1236, 1239 (4th Cir. 1989)(emphasis added) (BOA, p. 23, par. 3)

Dd) Authority speaks to routine Judicial Notice of certain categories

16. The Master abused his discretion by denying Judicial Notice of routine categories.

BOA shows (excerpted, emphasis added):

e) Specific Precedent for Entry of Pleadings - Certain categories, such as pleadings, records and judgments in other court cases have routinely been the subject of judicial notice (see, e.g. *Green v. Warden U.S. Penitentiary*, 699 F.2d 364, 369 (7th Cir. 1983). In the instant case it was pleadings arising from the same case that were sought to be judicially recognized. ... (BOA, p. 24, par. 1)

De) COA committed Error of Law by ignoring Rule 201(d), SCRE

17. Appellant cited Rule 201(d) (see BOA p. 1, III.), that COA ignored which constitutes Error of Law. Rule 201(d) demands recognition of the wrongful refusal of the Master to permit Counsel for Appellant to enter Exhibits, including the By-Laws, into evidence during the course of the Trial. BOA contains references to the Record On Appeal (R.), and clearly states that Appellant requested that evidence be entered, and supplied the Court with the necessary information {see BOA, a), pp. 21-22}. Rule 201(d) shows (excerpted, emphasis added):

RULE 201

(d) When Mandatory. A court **shall take judicial notice if requested by a party and supplied with the necessary information.**

Df) COA committed Error of Law by ignoring Rule 201(f), SCRE

18. Appellant cited Rule 201(f) (see BOA p. 1, III.), that COA ignored which constitutes Error of Law. The Master denied 201(f) based upon the stage of the proceeding, but 201(f) specifically allows that Judicial notice may be taken at any stage. {see BOA, (f), p. 23}.

Rule 201(f) shows (excerpted, emphasis added):

RULE 201

(f) Time of Taking Notice. **Judicial notice may be taken at any stage of the proceeding.**

The wrongful refusal of the Master to take judicial notice, under Rules 201(d) and (f), of the Complaint and Exhibits thereto following Appellant's specific request to do so, is clearly abuse of judicial discretion.

Dg) COA committed Error of Law by ignoring Rule 901(a), SCRE

19. Appellant cited Rule 901(a) (REH, p. 2 A), that COA ignored which constitutes Error of Law. The fact that By-Laws are a self-authenticated document was ignored by COA. Whether or not By-Laws are a public record (which they are) is irrelevant. Satisfaction of Rule 901(a) is apparent and assured because Exhibit A (R. p. 35-45) cannot possibly be anything else but what its proponent claims. This rule shows (excerpted, emphasis added):

RULE 901 - Requirement of Authentication or Identification

(a) General Provision. The requirement of **authentication** or identification as a condition precedent to **admissibility is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims.** (REH, p. 2, A1, 1)

Dh) The Board may have “talked the talk”, but evidence shows they did **not** “walk the walk”

20. A COA-unpublished Opinion (UPO) affirming non-suit cited the Board as claiming:

“... The law must be followed. By election to the Board, we did agree to abide by the By-Laws. ... ” which is an Error of Fact. With these statements, the Board with slight of hand, merely “talked the talk”, but in truth did not “walk the walk”. Regardless of their claim to “... abide by the By-Laws ...”, the Record On Appeal shows the Board’s “walk” was **not** consistent with their “talk” (BOA, p. 4, ll. 3-6; R. p. 242, ll. 11-21; R. p. 245, ll. 12-15; R. p. 249, ll. 6-8, ll. 19-23; R. p. 253, ll. 19-23; R. p. 255, ll. 21-22; R. p. 256, ll. 11-12; R. p. 265, ll. 3-5, ll. 18-21; R. p. 267, ll. 3-8; R. p. 268, ll. 12-13; R. p. 439, par. 40). A letter from Appellant to the Board further proves the Board’s “walk” was **not** consistent with their “talk”. **Not** consistent with their “talk”, the Board showed **no** “walk” and did **nothing**. As entered into evidence, this letter: “Plaintiff’s Exhibit 5” (R. 353 - 354) shows (excerpted):

Thank you for recent replies. However, they did **not address the issues** raised in, nor reflect the **seriousness** of, my recent messages. This suggests that either they were not read carefully or that the **Board is not seeking a resolution** of such issues ...

So, here is a last-ditch proposal: four short meetings (more if necessary) to work together to listen and respond to open issues. Indeed, you may have some points to raise as well! ... One last time, I respectfully request that the Board **get serious** about **committing** to [the] time required for **negotiation** with intent to **resolve** open issues.

In order to be productive, such private meetings cannot be a forum where the Board merely listens ... without **addressing** such concerns ... It may be that you believe the issue is proper to address but needs to be resolved with a different solution, which could conceivably lead to resolution. It is **not** “my way or the Highway”! After all, we are all in this for the **benefit of WHOA** membership, right?

Of course, if the proposed schedule needs “tweaking” please send alternative dates. However, other suggested dates should be **targeted to resolve issues** ...

It is a matter of record that the Board would not meet (“walk”) with Appellant to attempt to resolve issues (“talk”) related to alleged violations of By-Laws (R. p. 242, ll. 11-21; R. p. 439, par. 40). Such leaves their “talk” as substantively **neither** justified **nor** shown. Thus, the Board’s “talk” cannot be used as cited by COA.

Di) Appellant’s “Pre-Trial Brief ...” verifies the Master knew of Complaint and Exhibits

21. Counsel for Appellant submitted his “Pre-Trial Brief” before trial. It apprised the Master of several items brought to his attention, and for his consideration, in the Court Record (excerpted, emphasis added):

... This Pre-Trial Brief of course **incorporates all existing pleadings, including our Complaint** and Memorandum in Response to Defendants’ Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss and Alternatively for a More Definite Statement, **along with related Affidavits and Exhibits.**
(R. p. 474, par. 2)

- Requirement for this HOA **Board to adhere to the By-Laws**, and to **stipulate that future Boards must also adhere to the By-Laws.**
(R. p. 475, I. , dash 2)

... **Board** Defendants and the 2016 Board before them, have **engaged in continuing violations of the By-Laws** despite clear and repeated notification and explanation by Plaintiff, and that **such violations will continue to occur with future Boards** to the detriment of Members without confirmation of violations as claimed by Plaintiff, and without clear **direction from this Court that the By-Laws must be followed** (See attached Original Affidavit 14 – 23, 49, 61 – 63, 66)
(R. p. 475, II. , dash 2)

... issues ... It is for these reasons we are bringing them before the Master in Equity so that we may have **clarity for this Board, for future Boards, and for the Members** of the WHOA. (R. p. 481, par. 8)

So, the Master was fully aware of Exhibits to the Complaint, which included Exhibit A, By-Laws (R. p. 35-45), and was given a good idea about the extent of contents in the Court Record, and a good idea of issues before the Court.

Dj) Court policy favors **Declaratory Judgment** actions

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