THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

RECEIVED

Aug 20 2021

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Charles B. Simmons, Jr., Master in Equity

---

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Supreme Court Appellate Case No. 2021-000665  
Court of Appeals Appellate Case No. 2018-001209  
(Unpublished Opinion No. 2021-UP-113, filed April 7, 2021)  
Common Pleas Case No. 2017-CP-23-6301

---

Raymond A. Wedlake, individually and  
derivatively, on behalf of all Members of  
Woodington Homeowners' Association, Inc. .... Petitioner,

v.

Benjamin Acord, William Craigo, Denis  
Esteve, and Brian James in their capacity  
as the current Board of Directors of the

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

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. STANDARD FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT**

Pursuant to Rule 242(b), "A writ of certiorari is not a matter of right, but of sound judicial discretion, and will be granted only where there are special and important reasons." Rule 242(b) provides and exemplary listing of grounds for which discretionary review may be granted: (1)

where there are novel issues of law; (2) where there was a dissent in the decision of the Court of Appeals; (3) where a decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a prior decision of the Supreme Court; (4) where substantial constitutional issues are directly involved; and (5) where a federal question is included and the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of the United States Supreme Court. Respondents would respectfully submit that there are no special and important reasons for granting discretionary review of the Court of Appeals decision in Unpublished Opinion No. 2021-UP-113, and that none of the grounds specifically enumerated in Rule 242(b), SCACR are present in this case. Therefore, Respondents respectfully request that Petitioner's Petition for Writ of Certiorari be denied.

II. PETITIONER'S PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI SHOULD BE DENIED AS BEING UNTIMELY

Petitioner's Petition for Rehearing was finally ruled upon by the Court of Appeals on June 15, 2021, which is certified by Petitioner in Petitioner's Petition for Writ of Certiorari on page 4 thereof. Additionally, in the "Administrative History" section contained on page 2 of Petitioner's Petition for Rehearing of Order filed on July 12, 2021, Petitioner admits to being served with the Court of Appeals Unpublished Opinion No. 2021-UP-113 on June 15, 2021. Rule 242(c), SCACR provides that "A petition for writ of certiorari shall be served on opposing counsel and filed with proof of service with the Clerk of the Court of Court of Appeals and the Clerk of the Supreme Court within thirty (30) days after the petition for rehearing or reinstatement is finally decided by the Court of Appeals." Thirty (30) days from June 15, 2021 (the date the Petition for Rehearing was finally decided by the Court of Appeals) was July 15, 2021. Petitioner did not serve or file the instant Petition for Writ of Certiorari until July 22, 2021. Thus, the Petition for Writ of Certiorari is untimely and should be denied as being untimely.

III. THE COURT OF APPEALS DID NOT ERR IN AFFIRMING JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF RESPONDENTS ON PETITIONER'S "INDIVIDUAL CLAIM"

Petitioner asserts that he has some sort of individual cause of action for nominal damages, which appears to relate to an alleged failure by the Respondents to appoint him to fill a vacancy on the Board of Directors for the Association, although the exact legal theory of cause of action being asserted by Petitioner in this respect seems to be somewhat unclear.

"Under Rule 41 in a nonjury trial, the trial judge clearly may dismiss the action even though the plaintiff may have established a *prima facie* case." Johnson v. J.P. Stevens & Co., 308 S.C. 116, 118, 417 S.E.2d 527, 529 (1992). "Rule 41(b) allows the judge as the trier of facts to weigh the evidence, determine the facts and render a judgment against the plaintiff at the close of his case if justified." Id. See also, Waterpointe I Prop. Owner's Ass'n, Inc. v. Paragon, Inc., 342 S.C. 454, 458, 536 S.E.2d 878, 880 (Ct. App. 2000). "In an action at law, tried without a jury, the trial court's findings of fact will not be disturbed unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the court's findings." Duncan v. Little, 384 S.C. 420, 425; 682 S.E.2d 788, 790 (2009). "The trial court's factual findings in a law action are equivalent to a jury's findings" and "[q]uestions regarding credibility and the weight of the evidence are exclusively for the trial court." Jordan v. Judy, 413 S.C. 341, 348, 776 S.E.2d 96, 100 (Ct. App. 2015). The appellate court may not consider the case based on its view of the preponderance of the evidence, "but must construe the evidence presented to the [trial court] so as to support [its] decision whenever reasonably possible." Id. The appellate court "must look at the evidence in the light most favorable to the respondents and eliminate from consideration all evidence to the contrary." Id. The appellate court must affirm if there is any evidence to support the Master's findings. Waterpointe I Prop. Owner's Ass'n, Inc., 342 S.C. at 459, 536 S.E.2d at 881.

In this case, the Master never found any violation of any duty to Petitioner, including any violation of a duty to Petitioner to fill a vacancy on the Board of Directors. (R. pp. 7-17). The trial court found that Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof to establish that Respondents owed a duty under the bylaws to fill a vacancy on the Board of Directors. (R. pp. 13-15). Absent a finding of any violation of a duty to Petitioner, any claim for damages must necessarily fail. The Court of Appeals rightly found that there was evidence in the record to support the Master's finding that Petitioner was not entitled to an award of nominal damages. (Court of Appeals Unpublished Opinion No. 2021-UP-113, p. 5).

Based on the foregoing, Respondents respectfully assert that there are no special or important reasons for the Supreme Court to grant discretionary review of this evidentiary finding.

IV. THE COURT OF APPEALS DID NOT ERR IN AFFIRMING THE MASTER'S REFUSAL TO ADMIT INTO EVIDENCE CERTAIN DOCUMENTS PRE-MARKED AS EXHIBITS FOR IDENTIFICATION BY PETITIONER AT TRIAL

Petitioner/Plaintiff pre-marked eleven exhibits denoted as Plaintiff's Exhibits 1 through 11, inclusive. (R. p. 231; R. pp. 328-381). However, the parties didn't stipulate to the admissibility of any records or other evidence. At trial, Raymond Wedlake was presented as Petitioner's/Plaintiff's sole witness. (R. p. 235, line 2-p. 323, line 16). During Petitioner's counsel's direct examination of Mr. Wedlake, only two exhibits were referenced and deemed admitted into evidence – Plaintiff's Exhibits 5 and 10. (R. p. 269, line 21-p. 270, line 22; R pp. 239-241; 267-268). After counsel for Petitioner had rested his direct examination of Mr. Wedlake, the following colloquy took place with the Court regarding what exhibits had been admitted into evidence:

21 MR. GROTE: Your Honor, before I proceed, I guess I  
22 have a quick clarification. I'm a little bit unclear on what

23 exactly they've admitted into evidence. They've marked several  
24 things. I think they referenced maybe two of them, but it  
25 doesn't appear to me that they moved ---

1 THE COURT: The only -- there have been two documents  
2 referenced, so I don't know, absence some stipulation that all  
3 the exhibits are in, then I think only two documents are in  
4 evidence.

5 MR. GIBSON: Well, if Mr. Grote would permit, I'd ask  
6 him to stipulate that they would all be in evidence.

7 MR. GROTE: I haven't really had an opportunity to  
8 review those. I think it's his obligation to admit his exhibits.  
9 At this point, Your Honor, ---

10 THE COURT: If you're objecting, then the only two  
11 documents that are in are Plaintiff's 5 and Plaintiff's 10.

12 MR. GIBSON: Your Honor, if I could ---

13 THE COURT: I'm sorry. I need you to be standing up  
14 when you're addressing the Court under the Rules of Civil  
15 Procedure.

16 MR. GIBSON: Yes, Your Honor. I apologize, Your  
17 Honor. Would this be an appropriate time to try to submit them  
18 in chronological order?

19 MR. GROTE: I think he's rested his questions at this  
20 point.

21 THE COURT: In light of Mr. Grote's objection, I have  
22 no option but to sustain the objection.

(R. p. 269, line 21-p. 270, line 22). After such colloquy, counsel for Petitioner did not move to re-open direct examination. Thereafter, Respondents' counsel proceeded with cross-examination of Mr. Wedlake. (R. p. 271, line 15-p. 320, line 3). Thereafter, counsel for Petitioner was given an opportunity to conduct re-direct examination of Mr. Wedlake and did in fact do so. (R. p. 320, line 4-p. 323, line 8). Despite being given the opportunity to conduct re-direct examination, counsel for Petitioner did not seek to admit into evidence any additional records during re-direct, including any pre-marked exhibits that he failed admit into evidence during direct examination of Mr. Wedlake. (R. p. 320, line 4-p. 323, line 8). Petitioner did not present any further witnesses and rested his case. (R. p. 323, lines 15-16). The trial court then entertained motions, leading to the granting of involuntary nonsuit under Rule 41(b), SCRCP. (R. p. 323, line 17-p. 326, line 20).

During the motion colloquy, the trial court acknowledged that the Bylaws of the Association had not been admitted into evidence. (R. p. 323, lines 19-24). During the colloquy, Petitioner's counsel never asked the trial court to re-open Petitioner's case. (R. p. 324, lines 11-17). Further, Petitioner did not make any post-trial motions.

“The admission or exclusion of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court and the trial court's decision will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion.” Conner v. City of Forest Acres, 363 S.C. 460, 467, 611 S.E.2d 905, 908 (2005). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support.” Id. “To warrant reversal based on the admission or exclusion of evidence, the appellant must prove both the error of the ruling and the resulting prejudice, *i.e.*, there is a reasonable probability the jury's verdict was influenced by the wrongly admitted or excluded evidence.” Id.

Based on the record, it is clear that the Master did not abuse his discretion with respect to refusing to admit certain exhibits pre-marked for identification at trial by Petitioner into evidence. Therefore, the Court of Appeals did not err in affirming the Master on this issue.

Further, even if the Master were found to have erred (which Respondents deny), any such error would be harmless, as there was absolutely no prejudice to Petitioner. First, subsequent to the evidentiary ruling complained of, Petitioner's counsel was given an opportunity conduct re-direct examination and thus had an opportunity to seek to admit additional evidence at that time. During such re-direct, Respondent's counsel could have sought to try to introduce additional records, including what Petitioner asserted to be the Bylaws of the Association. However, Petitioner's counsel failed to take advantage of the second chance opportunity. Second, an examination of the official exhibits obtained from the trial court reporter reveals that none of the exhibits pre-marked at trial by Petitioner were actually anything that Petitioner could purport to be

a complete copy the Bylaws of the Association. (R. pp. 328-381). Therefore, there is no prejudice to Petitioner by the trial court's exclusion of Plaintiff's Exhibits 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, 8, 9, and 11 because even if all of those exhibits had been admitted into evidence, it still would not have cured the issue of failing to admit a complete copy of the Bylaws of the Association into evidence. Third, the Order of Judgment also states that "even had the bylaws been introduced, from what the record does show, Plaintiff would still not be entitled to the relief he seeks", thus indicating that the Master would not have ruled in Petitioner's favor even if the Bylaws had been introduced into evidence. (R. p. 14).

Based on the foregoing, Respondents respectfully assert that there are no special or important reasons for the Supreme Court to grant discretionary review of this routine evidentiary ruling, and that Petitioner's Petition for Writ of Certiorari should be denied.

V. THE COURT OF APPEALS DID NOT ERR IN AFFIRMING THE MASTER NOT TAKING JUDICIAL NOTICE OF AN EXHIBIT TO PETITIONER'S COMPLAINT, WHICH PLAINTIFF ASSERTS TO BE THE BYLAWS OF THE ASSOCIATION

Petitioner has asserted that the Master erred by failing to take judicial notice of the contents of an exhibit to Petitioner's Complaint, which Petitioner asserts are the Bylaws of the Association, and that the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the Master on this issue. Respondents disagree.

After the close of Petitioner's case at trial, the following colloquy took place:

13 THE COURT: All right. Thank you, sir. You can step  
14 down.

15 Any other witnesses from plaintiff?

16 MR. GIBSON: No, sir.

17 THE COURT: All right. Be glad to entertain any  
18 motions?

19 MR. GROTE: Yes, Your Honor. At this time I would  
20 move for a directed verdict on several issues. One, and I don't

21 mean to be facetious in this sense, but this is a case about  
22 interpretation of the Bylaws. I don't even know that the Bylaws  
23 have been admitted into evidence.

24 THE COURT: They have not.

25 MR. GROTE: There's really nothing before the Court to  
1 make a decision on. I'm not saying that in a facetious nature.  
2 It seems to me that if they want an interpretation of the Bylaws,  
3 the Bylaws have to be part of the evidentiary record and be  
4 before the Court. Without that, I mean, I don't know that the  
5 Court has enough information that it can even make a  
6 determination on these without -- you know, looking outside of  
7 the trial record.

8 As far as the specific issues, ---

9 THE COURT: Let me hear briefly from plaintiff's  
10 counsel, then I'm going to address and rule on the motion.

11 MR. GIBSON: Yes, sir. Several factors, Your Honor.  
12 Certainly the key provisions of the Bylaws were discussed in the  
13 pretrial brief. But more importantly they are Exhibit 3 to the  
14 Complaint and they are filed officially, e-filed officially, and  
15 they were cross-referenced as a result in all the written  
16 material. That would be my response, Your Honor, that it's part  
17 of the record.

18 THE COURT: Okay. Here's what I'm going to do,  
19 gentlemen. I'm going to take this as a motion for an involuntary  
20 non-suit, which I'm going to grant.

(R. p. 323, line 13-p. 324, line 20). Petitioner's counsel's argument was simply that since a document had been attached to the Complaint and had been referenced in other pretrial submissions, that it was part of the court record and thus was automatically admitted as evidence that could be considered at trial. Respondents respectfully assert that Petitioner's counsel never actually sought or argued that that the Master should take judicial notice of the exhibit to Petitioner's Complaint.

Even if Petitioner is deemed to have requested that the trial court take judicial notice of the document attached to Petitioner/Plaintiff's Complaint, Respondents assert that no error/abuse of discretion occurred and there is no special or important reason(s) for the Supreme Court to grant discretionary review of this issue.

As noted above, the admission or exclusion of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court and the decision of the trial court must stand absent an abuse of discretion. Conner, 363 S.C. at 467, 611 S.E.2d at 908. Judicial notice is generally governed by Rule 201, SCRE, which provides in relevant part:

**(b) Kinds of Facts.** A judicially noticed fact must be one not subject to reasonable dispute in that it is either (1) generally known within the territorial jurisdiction of the trial court or (2) capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned.

Rule 201(b), SCRE.

Judicial notice takes the place of proof and “simply means that the court will admit into evidence and consider, without proof of the facts, matters of common and general knowledge.” Moss v. Aetna Life Ins. Co., 267 S.C. 370, 377, 228 S.E.2d 108, 112 (1976). “For a fact to be subject to judicial notice, it must be so notorious that the court may properly assume its existence without proof.” Masters v. Rodgers Dev. Group, 283 S.C. 251, 255, 321 S.E.2d 194, 196 (Ct. App. 1984). The Master simply did not err in failing to take judicial notice that the document attached to Petitioner’s Complaint was in fact the Bylaws of the Association, as the Bylaws were not general or common knowledge, nor were they capable of accurate and ready determination by the Master by resort to sources whose accuracy could not reasonably be questioned. The simple fact is that it was Petitioner’s obligation to authenticate and move to admit all necessary evidence at trial, and Petitioner simply failed to authenticate and to admit a copy of the Bylaws of the Association into evidence at trial.

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